
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Interim Chief Executive 
 

COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP 
 
 

Councillor Rosie Leck (Chair) 

Councillor Sharon Thornton (Vice-Chair) 

Councillor Stan Hill 

Councillor Colin Hughes 

Councillor Paul Nolan 

Councillor Ged Philbin 

Councillor Carol Plumpton Walsh 

Councillor Rob Polhill 

Councillor Christopher Rowe 

Councillor Dave Thompson 

Councillor Bill Woolfall 

 
Please contact Isabelle Moorhouse on 01515113979 or 

isabelle.moorhouse@halton.gov.uk  for further information. 
The next meeting of the Committee is on Tuesday, 7 April 2026 

 

Development Management Committee 
 
Tuesday, 3 March 2026 6.30 p.m. 
Civic Suite, Town Hall, Runcorn 

Public Document Pack



 
ITEMS TO BE DEALT WITH  

IN THE PRESENCE OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

Part l 
 
Item No. Page No. 
  
1. MINUTES 
 

1 - 7 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
  

 

 Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or Other Disclosable Interest 
which they have in any item of business on the agenda, no later 
than when that item is reached or as soon as the interest 
becomes apparent and, with Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, to 
leave the meeting prior to discussion and voting on the item. 
 

 
 

3. PLANNING APPLICATIONS TO BE DETERMINED BY THE 
COMMITTEE 

 

 

 (A) 25/00506/COU - PROPOSED CHANGE OF USE FROM A 
2-BEDROOM DWELLINGHOUSE (USE CLASS C3) TO A 
4-BEDROOM HOUSE IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION (USE 
CLASS C4) WITH ENSUITES TO EACH OF THE ROOMS 
AND A SHARED KITCHEN AND DINING ROOM. 31 
BALFOUR STREET, RUNCORN, WA7 4PH   

8 - 24 

4. MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS 
 

25 

 
 
In accordance with the Health and Safety at Work Act the Council is 
required to notify those attending meetings of the fire evacuation 
procedures. A copy has previously been circulated to Members and 
instructions are located in all rooms within the Civic block. 



DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 
At a meeting of the Development Management Committee on Wednesday, 14 January 
2026 at Civic Suite, Town Hall, Runcorn 
 

Present: Councillors Leck (Chair), Thornton (Vice-Chair), Hughes, P. Nolan, 
Philbin, C. Plumpton Walsh, Polhill, Rowe, Thompson and Woolfall. 
 
Apologies for Absence: Councillor S. Hill. 
 
Absence declared on Council business: None. 
 
Officers present: A. Blackburn, H. Bradley, E. Breheny, G. Henry, C. Nixon, 
A. Plant, S. Moorhouse and I. Moorhouse. 
 
Also in attendance: 36 members of the public. 
 

 
 

 
 Action 

DEV15 MINUTES  
  
  The Minutes of the meeting held on 2 December 

2025, having been circulated, were taken as read and 
signed as a correct record. 

 

   
DEV16 PLANNING APPLICATIONS TO BE DETERMINED BY THE 

COMMITTEE 
 

  
  The Committee considered the following applications 

for planning permission and, in accordance with its powers 
and duties, made the decisions described below. 

 

   
DEV17 25/00346/REM - APPLICATION FOR THE APPROVAL OF 

RESERVED MATTERS, NAMELY LAYOUT, SCALE, 
APPEARANCE AND LANDSCAPING PURSUANT TO 
CONDITION 2 ATTACHED TO OUTLINE PLANNING 
PERMISSION 22/00423/OUTEIA COMPRISING 500 
DWELLINGS, INTERNAL ESTATE ROADS, OPEN SPACE 
AND LANDSCAPING, AND ASSOCIATED 
INFRASTRUCTURE AND WORKS. ADDITIONAL 
CONDITIONS ADDRESSED IN THIS APPLICATION 
INCLUDE CONDITIONS 3 (DESIGN PARAMETERS), 5 
(PROW), 6 (PHASING). LAND OFF HALE GATE ROAD, 
WIDNES 

 

ITEMS DEALT WITH  
UNDER DUTIES  

EXERCISABLE BY THE COMMITTEE 
 

 

Page 1 Agenda Item 1



  
  The consultation procedure undertaken was outlined 

in the report together with background information in respect 
of the site.  
 
 Since the agenda was published, additional variations 
of the provision to the offsite highway improvements, and 
amendments to the affordable first homes provision within 
the Section 106 agreement for the site had been made. 
 
 The AB list should have referred to application 
25/00346/REM rather than 25/00346/OUT. The outline 
application (25/00346/OUT), approved in July 2024, granted 
permission for 500 dwellings, a local centre, a later living 
scheme, a new primary school, and access points, with 
scale, layout and landscaping reserved for future 
determination. 
 
 Residents and the Parish Council requested further 
consultation and a redesign; however, neither were a 
statutory requirement. The applicant carried out a leaflet 
drop and met with the Parish Council, while Halton Borough 
Council undertook its public consultation and issued 105 
letters to residents and published a press notice. 
 
 The proposal complied with the National Model 
Design Code and the Council’s supplementary planning 
document (SPD). Officers considered the site acceptable. 
The scheme included four areas: the historic edge near Hale 
Bank, the rural edge adjoining the field, the Hale Bank fringe 
and the Hale Bank core. 
 
 A heritage statement was not required as the outline 
application concluded that the development would not harm 
the conservation area. Under the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF), any low-level harm must be balanced 
against public benefits and optimal site use. The 
Conservation Officer recommended strengthening the green 
buffer to mitigate potential harm, and the application 
included measures to address this. 
 
 Although the draft 2007 Open Space SPD was not 
met, it was advisory and not a Council adopted policy. The 
scheme met the requirement for 20% affordable housing 
and provided 74 affordable rented homes and 26 affordable 
ownership homes. While no specialist housing was included, 
144 homes were adaptable. For new builds, the Halton 
Housing Needs Assessment recommended 25–30% two-
bedroom homes and 35–40% three-bedroom homes; this 
scheme provided 13.6% two-bedroom and 53.36% three-

 

Page 2



bedroom properties. 
 
 The Committee was addressed by Mr Anderton who 
objected to the proposal. He presented the following points: 
 

 Residents were in ‘disbelief’ of the application due to 
the local infrastructure and amenities being inefficient 
for a new development; 

 Ditton Railway Bridge was due to have a structural 
survey in 2026. Members were made aware of the 
Bridge’s condition for decades through infrastructure 
reports; 

 Burst water mains on the Bridge led to long traffic 
delays; 

 The public consultation was inefficient as not all 
residents were contacted about the development;  

 In the public meeting with residents, it was requested 
that residents discuss their concerns with the 
applicant and that the site be redesigned. These 
requests were denied by the applicant;   

 The development was detrimental to the area due to 
external social and economic factors, and more 
community engagement should be done to mitigate 
these concerns;  

 Section 106 funding will not be spent on the local 
community; 

 Constituents did not feel supported by their local 
Councillors; and 

 The application should be deferred until an 
independent review of Ditton Railway Bridge was 
conducted to confirm its safety, the developer agreed 
to a NPPF consultation with residents, and the 
developer went on a site visit with residents to 
discuss concerns.  

 
 The Committee was addressed by Mr Gee, the 
Planning Consultant hired by Hale Bank Parish Council who 
objected to the proposal. He presented the following points: 
 

 The application was a “Reserved Matters Application” 
and the housing in the application was not 
scrutinised;  

 The public consultation of the application was 
insufficient, there was no design review and limited 
digital access; 

 The house designs did not consider Hale Bank’s 
character;  

 There was no heritage impact assessment and there 
was no evidence that there was no impact; 

Page 3



 The Parish Council was concerned about the 
standard of housing for the site as only 49% of the 
homes would meet National Space Standards and 
there was no wheelchair accessible homes; 

 There was no certainty that the later life scheme, new 
school and local centre would be delivered; and 

 The development did not address Ditton Railway 
Bridge which was ‘structurally deficient’.  

 
 The Committee was addressed by Ms Ashworth, the 
agent for the applicant, who supported the officer’s 
recommendation to approve the application. She added that: 
 

 Halton needed new homes, and the outline 
application was approved in July 2024;  

 The proposal conformed with the outline parameters 
with layout, scale and appearance;  

 The applicant worked collaboratively with all 
consultees during the pre-application and application 
stages;  

 The proposal improved the permeability of the site, 
maximised pedestrian and residential connections, 
provided new play areas and ‘ecological features’; 

 The applicant’s Social Manager worked with the local 
community in unemployment and adult learning 
sessions in Widnes and Runcorn and a design 
competition with the pupils at the local primary school 
was held. Riverside College students also helped 
design the site;  

 Feedback from residents was incorporated into the 
proposals; and 

 The homes were energy efficient, building regulation 
compliant and met Central Government’s housing 
standards. 

 
 Officers clarified that in the outline planning 
application, a survey was carried out on Ditton Railway 
Bridge, and it was deemed acceptable for the development. 
Therefore, it could not be considered as part of this 
application. Additionally, the Parish Council submitted their 
objection to the application much later than the 21-day 
deadline as they submitted it over three months late.  

 
 In response to points raised by the Committee, it was 
noted that: 
 

 If the application was refused and went to appeal, it 
was possible that planning permission would be 
granted;  

 Ditton Railway Bridge needed to be fixed to resolve 

Page 4



the flooding issue, but a set amount could be 
reserved to install a relief road for the bridge; 

 The amended drainage system had been presented 
to United Utilities, and the development could not 
progress until they stated that they were happy with it;  

 Network Rail would organise any surveys for Ditton 
Railway Bridge and the Council would resolve any 
highway issues with it;  

 The Council did not adopt the National Space 
Standards in the local plan, but they could be added 
to a future policy; and 

 The Committee was informed that considering the 
noncompliance with the space standard when 
balanced against the benefits of the scheme would 
not outweigh the grant of permission in this case.  
 

 After consideration of the application and updates 
provided by officers, the proposal was Moved and Seconded 
and the Committee voted to approve the application.  

  
RESOLVED: That the application be approved 
subject to the following: 

1) Deed of variation relating to the provision for open space, 
BNG and affordable housing  
2) Schedule of the following conditions: 

 Plans condition listing relevant drawings 

 Tree protection 

 Noise mitigation scheme  

 Drainage  

 Landscape management plan 

 Hard and Soft Landscaping  

 Boundary treatment  
3) That delegated authority be given to the Director of 
Planning to determine the application following submission 
of an acceptable drainage scheme. 

   
 [The Meeting was suspended at 19:12 to allow members of 

the public to vacate the public gallery. The Meeting 
reconvened at 19:15.] 

 

   
DEV18 25/00384/FUL - PROPOSED EXTENSION TO EXISTING 

RESIDENTIAL BEDSIT STUDIOS TO FORM NEW BLOCK 
C - CONSISTING OF 19 NEW ONE-BEDSIT STUDIOS. 
MIDWOOD HOUSE, TRAVIS STREET, WIDNES, WA8 6FT 

 

  
  The consultation procedure undertaken was outlined 

in the report together with background information in respect 
of the site.  
 
 Officers highlighted the key points as stated in the 

 

Page 5



report and noted that no representations on the application 
were submitted and recommended that the application be 
approved, subject to the conditions.    
 
 After consideration of the application and updates 
provided by officers, the proposal was Moved and Seconded 
and the Committee voted to approve the application.  
 
 RESOLVED: That the application be approved 
subject to the following:  
1) S106 or other appropriate agreement securing financial 
contributions for Greenspace Provision (£9,702.81) and 
Recreational Pressure Mitigation (£5,286.94) 
2) Schedule of the following conditions:  

 Standard Full Permission 1  

 Approved Plans (Policy GR1)  

 External Facing Materials (Policy GR1)  

 Standard Hours Condition (Policy GR2)  

 Site levels (Policy GR1)  

 Parking and Servicing Implementation (Policy C1 and 
C2)  

 Details of cycle and motorcycle parking (Policy C1)  

 Waste and Storage Collection (Policy WM9)  

 Ground Contamination (Policy CS23 and HE8)  

 Acoustic Report (Policy HE7)  

 SUDS (Policy HE9)  

 Bird and Bat Boxes (Policy HE1)  

 Breeding Birds (Policy HE1)  

 Site Waste Management Plan (Policy WM8)  

 Climate Change - (Policies CS(R)19 and GR5) 

 Arboricultural Method Statement (Policy HE5)  

 Recreational Pressure Householder Leaflet CS(R)20 
3) That if the S106 or other appropriate agreement is not 
secured within a reasonable period of time, authority be 
given to refuse this planning application. 

   
DEV19 MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS  
  
  The following applications had been received / were 

in progress: 
 
 22/00569/OUT - HEATH BUSINESS AND 
TECHNICAL PARK 
 
 The Secretary of State called in the planning 
application. This was considered in a Public Inquiry held 
over September into October 2025. The appointed Inspector 
appointed presented their draft report to the Secretary of 
State. The Council expects of the informed of the decision 

 

Page 6



on or about 9 March 2026. 
 
 25/00254/COUGEN - APPEAL AGAINST 
ENFORCEMENT NOTICE ROTHERHAM HOUSE HEATH 
ROAD WIDNES 
 
 In view of the dismissal of the appeal against the 
refusal of the application for the proposed change of use at 
Rotherham House reported below, the Council requested an 
early decision on this Enforcement Appeal. An update will be 
provided at a later date.  
 
 25/00261/COU - 1-4 SALISBURY STREET WIDNES  
 
 Proposed change of use of the first floor and part 
ground floor from E-Class to twelve (12) Sui generis single 
occupancy HMO rooms and retention of E-class floorspace 
on ground floor at 1-4 Salisbury Street, Widnes.  
 
 25/00272/COU - ODDIES SOCIAL CLUB 
 
 Proposed change of use of ground floor of premises 
from extant (sui generis) licenced social club use with 
ancillary car park to storage and distribution class (B8) use 
with ancillary car park at Oddies Social Club, Hale Road, 
Widnes.  
  
 The following appeals have been determined:  
 
 25/00254/COU - ROTHERHAM HOUSE 
 
 Proposed change of use to flexible letting at 
Rotherham House, Lunts heath Road, Widnes, WA8 5BB 
APPEAL DISMISSED 

   
 

 
Meeting ended at 19:21 

  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



APPLICATION NO:  25/00506/COU 

LOCATION:  31 Balfour Street, Runcorn, WA7 4PH 

PROPOSAL: Proposed change of use from a 2-bedroom 
dwellinghouse (Use Class C3) to a 4-bedroom 
House in Multiple Occupation (Use Class C4) with 
ensuites to each of the rooms and a shared kitchen 
and dining room 

WARD: Mersey and Weston 

PARISH: None 

APPLICANT: 
 
AGENT: 

Twenty Thirty Investments Limited 
 

DEVELOPMENT PLAN: 
 
Halton Delivery and 
Allocations Local Plan (2022) 
 

ALLOCATIONS: 
 
Primarily Residential  

DEPARTURE  No 

REPRESENTATIONS: 13 

RECOMMENDATION: Approve, subject to conditions 

SITE MAP 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 8 Agenda Item 3a



 

1. APPLICATION SITE 

1.1 The Site  

The site subject to this application is 31 Balfour Street in Runcorn. It is a mid-

terrace property located in a Primarily Residential Area, as designated in the 

Halton Delivery and Allocations Local Plan. 

The site is surrounded by other residential streets of terrace properties, with 

Runcorn Train Station to the North of the site and Runcorn Town Centre also 

North of the site. 

Planning History 

There are no previous planning applications recorded at this address. 

2. THE APPLICATION 

 

2.1 Proposal 

 
On the September 11th 2025, Halton Borough Council’s Executive Board 1 (item 

10a/b) approved an immediate article 4 within specified areas of the borough 

(including some areas of Runcorn, where the application site is situated), due 

to concerns of clustering of HMOs and the impact this has on local character 

and the amenity of neighbourhoods. Due to the constitutional process within 

the Council a call-in period is required, hence the official date of this Article 4 

direction officially coming into effect on the 24th September 2025. 

 

As a result planning permission is now required for such changes of use  that 

would previously have been permitted development. A full planning application 

has been submitted proposing a change of use from a single-family dwelling 

(Use Class C3) to a 4-bedroom House in Multiple Occupation (Use Class C4) 

with ensuites to each of the rooms and a shared kitchen and dining room. 

 

2.2 Documentation 

 

The application is accompanied by an application form and a set of plans. 

 

3. POLICY CONTEXT 

Members are reminded that planning law requires for development proposals 

to be determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise. 

3.1 Delivery and Allocations Local Plan (‘DALP’) (adopted March 2022) 

CS(R)1 Halton’s Spatial Strategy  

Page 9



CS(R)12 Housing Mix and Specialist Housing 

CS(R)15 Sustainable Transport  

CS(R)18 High Quality Design  

CS(R)19 Sustainable Development and Climate Change  

CS(R)24 Waste 

C1 Transport Network and Accessibility 

C2 Parking Provision 

HE7 Pollution and Nuisance  

GR1 Design of Development  

GR2 Amenity 

RD3 Dwelling Alterations, Extensions, Conversions and Replacement 

Dwellings 

RD5 Primarily Residential Areas 

3.2 Supplementary Planning Documents (‘SPD’)  

Houses in Multiple Occupation SPD 

3.3 Joint Merseyside and Halton Waste Local Plan (2013)  

The following policies, contained within the Joint Merseyside and Halton Waste 

Local Plan are of relevance:  

 WM8 Waste Prevention and Resource Management;  

 WM9 Sustainable Waste Management Design and Layout for New 

Development. 

MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS  

Below are material considerations relevant to the determination of this planning 

application.  

3.4 National Planning Policy Framework  

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (December 2024) sets out the 

Government’s planning policies for England and how these should be applied.  

3.5 Equality Duty  

Page 10



Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 created the public sector equality duty. 

Section 149 states:- (1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, 

have due regard to the need to:  

a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 

that is prohibited by or under this Act;  

b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;  

c) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it. Officers have taken this into 

account and given due regard to this statutory duty, and the matters specified 

in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 in the determination of this application.  

There are no known equality implications arising directly from this development 

that justify the refusal of planning permission.  

3.6 Other Considerations  

The application has been considered having regard to Article 1 of the First 

Protocol of the Human Rights Act 1998, which sets out a person’s rights to the 

peaceful enjoyment of property and Article 8 of the Convention of the same Act 

which sets out his/her rights in respect for private and family life and for the 

home.  

Officers consider that the proposed development would not be contrary to the 

provisions of the above Articles in respect of the human rights of surrounding 

residents/occupiers. 

4. CONSULTATIONS  

The following organisations have been consulted and any comments received 

have been summarised below and in the assessment section of the report 

where appropriate: 

HBC Highways 

Holding Objection 

HBC Environmental Health 

No Comments Received 

Ward Councillors 

Objection  

HBC Open Spaces 

Page 11



No Comments Received 

Cheshire Police 

No Objection, recommendations made for different aspects of the property. 

5. REPRESENTATIONS 

This application has been publicised by 8 neighbour notification letters sent on 

18/12/25. A site notice was also posted at the site on this date. From this 

publicity, a total of 13 objections have been received. The following points have 

been raised: 

- Parking issues 

- Development will generate more noise 

- Concerns regarding who the future tenants will be 

- House is not big enough  

- Value of neighbouring properties will be reduced and negate potential sale 

of properties  

- Quality of life will be impacted 

- Impacts onto the character of the area 

- High turnover rate of HMO will effect stability of the neighbourhood 

- Approving this will set a president for other dwellings to be converted into 

a HMO 

- Development presents a significant increase in intensity of use 

- Congestion already created by the Co-Op will be increased 

A Ward Councillor has also objected stating the following: 

I am writing to object to the proposed change of use from a 2-bed dwelling house 

(Use Class C3) to a 4-bedroom House in Multiple Occupation (Use Class C4). I 

believe this proposal would have a negative impact on both the property itself and 

the surrounding residential area. 

Over-Intensification of the Property 

The original property is a modest 2-bed dwelling designed for single-family use. 

Converting it into a 4-bed HMO, with each bedroom containing an ensuite, 

represents a significant over-intensification of the building. The installation of four 

ensuites drastically reduces the available communal living space, raising concerns 

about whether the property can provide a safe, healthy, and comfortable 

environment for future occupants. 

Loss of Residential Amenity 

By prioritising ensuite bedrooms over shared living areas, the proposal undermines 

the quality of accommodation. Limited communal space often leads to increased use 

of external areas, noise spillover, and general disturbance to neighbours. This is 

especially relevant in smaller residential streets where properties are closely spaced. 

Page 12



Parking and Highway Impact 

A 4-bed HMO typically results in several unrelated adults living independently, each 

potentially owning a vehicle. This significantly increases the demand for parking 

compared with a standard 2-bed family home. The extra parking required will 

place an additional burden on already limited parking spaces, worsening 

congestion and creating further pressure on the surrounding streets. This raises 

concerns about highway safety, access for emergency vehicles, and the overall 

convenience for existing residents. 

Neighbour Concerns and HMO Saturation 

Local residents have already expressed their concerns and distress about yet 

another HMO being proposed in an area that already contains multiple HMOs. 

The cumulative impact of these conversions is becoming increasingly noticeable, 

and neighbours are worried about the long-term effect on the character, stability, and 

cohesion of the community. The addition of another high-occupancy property risks 

further tipping the balance away from family housing and towards transient 

accommodation. 

Waste Management Concerns 

Higher occupancy levels inevitably generate more waste. Without sufficient internal 

and external storage space — already compromised by the addition of multiple 

ensuites — there is a risk of overflowing bins, clutter, and deterioration of the street 

scene. 

 

Impact on Community Balance 

The surrounding area is primarily composed of family homes. Introducing a 

high-occupancy HMO into a small residential street risks disrupting the established 

community balance. HMOs often have higher turnover rates, which can reduce 

neighbourhood cohesion and stability. 

Conclusion 

For the reasons outlined above — including over-intensification, loss of living space, 

increased parking burden, neighbour concerns about HMO saturation, reduced 

residential amenity, and negative impact on community character — I respectfully 

request that this application be refused. 

 

6. ASSESSMENT  

6.1 Principle of development 

Page 13



The application site is an existing residential property (Use Class C3) located 

fully within a Primary Residential Area on the DALP policies map, as such the 

principal of residential development has been established. 

Policy CS(R)3: Housing Supply and Locational Priorities states that during the 

period 2014 to 2037 provision will be made for the development of at least 8,050 

(net) additional dwellings. It then goes on to state that they will be delivered 

from a variety of sources including small sites and windfall sites. The Council’s 

Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) Supplementary Planning Guidance 

(SPD) states that “HMOs form an important part of Halton’s housing supply 

adding to the choice of living for many residents. The principle of residential 

development at the application site is therefore established and considered 

acceptable with regards to Policy RD5. 

Objections have been received with regards to the potential impacts of this 

development onto the character of the area. It is considered that the use as a 

HMO is consistent with the character of the residential area and the number of 

adults that could reasonably be expected live in the property (being four based 

on the legal space standards set out below) would not be substantially different 

to the number of occupiers in a 2 bed dwellinghouse.  

6.2 Design, Scale and Layout  

Halton Borough Council’s Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) 

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPD) was recently adopted in March 2025, 

and sets out the general principles for HMOs.  

The HMO SPD states that rooms must comply with the minimum legal space 

standards set out below as defined in the ‘Houses In Multiple Occupation 

Licensing Requirements And Amenity Standards’ adopted document and The 

Housing Act:  

Sleeping accommodation: 

Rooms must comply with the minimum legal space standards set out below; 

 

 

However if no other private or communal living areas are provided the 

minimum sleeping room sizes that HMO’s in Halton must comply with are;  

 

 

Page 14



Where communal areas are provided in addition to the rooms used for sleeping 

the space standards for communal areas are 17.5m2 based on a 5 bed HMO. 

 

The application proposes on the ground floor both a kitchen measuring 8.35m2 

and a communal lounge area measuring 12.2m2. Thus the proposed communal 

areas would exceed 17.5m2 and the above Halton sleeping accommodation 

standards would therefore be 6.51m2 minimum for a bedspace. 

The Technical Housing Standards – Nationally Described Space Standards, 

sets out that in order to provide one bedspace, a single bedroom should have 

a floor area of at least 7.5m2 and should be at least 2.15m wide.  

Three of the bedrooms comply with this standard, and 1 of the bedrooms has 

a shortfall by 0.13m2 when compared with the National Described Space 

Standards The Council has not however adopted these standards into its 

planning policy and this shortfall is considered minimal. It is not considered that 

a refusal of the application could be justified given that the Council’s Space 

Standards (6.51m²) are complied with and the size of the bedroom is 

considered reasonable. This was confirmed during a site visit. 

The HMO SPD further states that planning permission will not normally be 

granted for new HMOs where the proportion of HMOs exceeds, or will exceed, 

10% of the properties (residential and commercial) within a 50-metre radius of 

the application property. A licensing and planning history search has been 

completed within a 50m radius of the application site and has confirmed that no 

HMO’s currently lie within this radius at 31 Balfour Road. 

The HMO SPD also states that planning permission will generally not be 

granted for the development of HMOs that lead to the ‘sandwiching’ of 

residential properties. Sandwiching occurs when a non-HMO residential 

property has a HMO on either side. It is noted that as no other HMOs lie within 

50m of the property, sandwiching is avoided. 

It is further referenced within the HMO SPD that planning permission will not 

generally be granted for proposals that would result in a block of three or more 

adjacent HMOs. Again to reiterate the above, there is no other HMO’s located 

within a 50m radius, hence a block of three HMO’s is avoided.  

The Ward Councillor has expressed concerns regarding HMO saturation in the 

area. A stated purpose of the Council’s adopted SPD is to control the 

concentration of HMOs issues arising from it. It is considered that the proposals 

comply with the tests as required by the Council’s adopted SPD and that the 

Article 4 in place allows the Council future control over numbers and potential 

saturation. Cheshire Police have also been consulted on the application and 

raises no objection. They have provided  comments in reference to 

Page 15



recommendations for secure and well managed HMO provision. The security 

recommends have been shared with the applicant and can be attached as an 

informative accordingly to any future planning approval if granted.  

Overall, the proposed 4-bedroom HMO development is considered to be 

acceptable in terms of its design, scale and layout to provide suitable living 

standards. The proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable with DALP 

Policies GR1, CS(R)3 and RD5, and considered compliant with the HMO SPD 

Guidance.  

    6.5 Transport and highways 

Policy GR2 (1e) of the DALP expects proposals to provide and maintain safe 

highway conditions for pedestrians, cyclists and motor vehicles, including 

ensuring there is appropriate parking, access and servicing.  

Policy C2 of the DALP sets out parking requirements with proposed 

developments. The application proposes no in-curtilage parking, existing or 

proposed.  

Paragraph 116 of the NPPF (2024 revised) also states that development should 

only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an 

unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on 

the road network, following mitigation, would be severe, taking into account all 

reasonable future scenarios. 

The Council’s Highway Officer has raised a holding objection, highlighting the 

fact that the properties on this road rely on on-street parking. They state that 

the proposal will lead to intensification compared to a 2 bed family home and 

therefore a beat survey should be submitted to analyse parking pressures and 

capacity. Given the scale of the development it is not considered that this can 

be justified in this circumstance. On street parking is a common and established 

feature of this residential area and the potential for additional cars as a result 

of the development is considered likely to be limited. Further to this, the site is 

located in a sustainable location close by to the train station, bus stops and 

within walking distance to the town centre. In the absence of evidence that this 

proposal will lead to severe impacts and unacceptable highway conditions, 

refusal of planning permission could not be justified. 

The Highways Officer has also requested details regarding cycle storage and 

bin storage. As required by the SPD, the applicant has provided details that 

waste storage and collection which will remain the same as present which is 

through the rear entrance onto the alley way. Given that the property is already 

within residential use with a secure rear garden area that can provide space for 

bins, it is reasonable to retain this waste strategy and it is considered 

appropriate. With regards to bike storage, the applicant has stated that that 

Page 16



bikes can also be stored in the secure rear garden. Given the scale of the 

development it is not considered that requirement for further provision can be 

justified.  

Based on the above, in terms of traffic generation/parking accumulation, the 

proposal is not likely to lead to severe highway impacts that would warrant a 

refusal and is therefore acceptable. 

6.7 Residential amenity 

Policy GR2 of the DALP states that developments must avoid detriment to the 

living environment of existing or planned residential properties and to ensure a 

high standard of amenity for existing and future users. 

No acoustic report was submitted alongside the application, and no comments 

have been received from the Council’s Environmental Health Officer.  

Given that the proposal does not include external alterations, it is not 

considered that this development will lead to a loss of light or a loss of privacy 

to neighbouring properties.  

Concerns have been raised from neighbours with regards to noise and the 

potential impact of the HMO onto residential amenity. The levels of activity 

associated with the HMO would not be materially greater than that of a family 

dwelling of a comparable size, and there is no evidence to suggest that the 

future occupiers would generate noise beyond that which could be reasonably 

expected within a residential area. Any potential for noise and disturbance can 

be controlled through the appropriate management of the property and where 

necessary through existing Environmental Health legislation. A condition can 

be attached to restrict construction hours for any building works required for the 

conversion of the property. 

Overall, the proposed HMO use is consistent with both the character of the area 

and is not considered to raise any concerns with regard to residential amenity 

and the proposal is considered to be compliant with Policy GR2 of the DALP. 

Further issues not raised above 

Concerns have been raised regarding the people who will reside in the property. 

Neighbours also state that a large turnaround of residents will impact the 

character of the area. The planning system does not exist to control the type of 

person or characteristics of future occupants of properties and it can therefore 

not be used as a material planning consideration in order to refuse the 

application. The property will be retained as a residential use and the future 

occupants will hold the same rights and responsibilities as any other resident in 

this area. If anti-social behaviour is to occur from this property following the 

grant of permission, this will be a matter for the property management and the 

Page 17



local police. There is also no evidence before the Council to prove that this 

development would result in a large turnaround of residents to justify refusal of 

planning permission. 

Further, concerns have been raised regarding the impact of this development 

onto property prices. Similar to the above, the planning system does not exist 

to protect private interests and there is no planning policy to require the 

consideration of developments onto property values. This is overall not a 

material planning consideration and would not warrant a refusal of this planning 

application. 

A neighbour has expressed concern that if this HMO is to be approved, then a 

precedent will be set for the area and other HMO’s well be created. It should be 

noted that the recently introduced Article 4 direction was introduced to prevent 

the over concentration of HMO’s being caused by the permitted development 

rights existing for small-scale HMO’s. All planning applications will be assessed 

against the Council’s policies and SPD guidance.  

6.8 Conclusion 

In conclusion, it is considered that the change of use from a single-family 

dwelling (Use Class C3) to a 4-bedroom House in Multiple Occupation (Use 

Class C4) is acceptable. The proposal is considered wholly compliant with the 

Council’s adopted SPD for Houses in Multiple Occupation and no other harms 

have been demonstrated tat would justify refusal of planning permission in this 

case. 

The application is therefore considered to accord with Policies C2, CS(R)3, 

CS(R)5, CS(R)18, CS(R)19, GR1, GR2, HE7 and RD5 of the Halton Delivery 

and Allocations Local Plan. 

7. RECOMMENDATION 

Approved, subject to conditions. 

8. CONDITIONS 

 

1. Time Limit – Full Permission 

2. Approved Plans 

3. Hours of Construction 

Informative: 

Advice from Cheshire Police. 

9. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

The submitted planning applications are background papers to the report. Other 

background papers specifically mentioned and listed within the report are open 

Page 18



to inspection at the Council’s premises at Municipal Building, Kingsway, 

Widnes, WA8 7QF in accordance with Section 100D of the Local Government 

Act 1972. 

10. SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT 

As required by:  

 The National Planning Policy Framework (2024);  

 The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 

(England) Order 2015; and  

 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) (Amendment) 

(England) Regulations 2015.  

This statement confirms that the local planning authority has worked proactively 

with the applicant to secure developments that improve the economic, social 

and environmental conditions of Halton 

Page 19



Development Management Committee

Application Number: 

Development Management Committee

P
age 20



Development Management Committee

Application Number: 25/00506/COU Plan 1: Location Plan

P
age 21



Development Management Committee

Application Number: 25/00506/COU Plan 2: Existing Floor Plans 

P
age 22



Development Management Committee

Application Number: 25/00506/COU Plan 3: Proposed Floor Plans

P
age 23



Development Management Committee

Application Number: 25/00506/COU Plan 4:  Aerial View 

P
age 24



REPORT TO: 
 

Development Management Committee 

DATE: 
 

3 March 2026 

SUBJECT: 
 
REPORTING OFFICER: 
 

Miscellaneous Information 
 
Executive Director – Environment & 
Regeneration 
 

WARD(S): 
 

Boroughwide 

 

 
The following Appeals have been received / are in progress: 
 
22/00569/OUT 
The Secretary of State called in the planning application. This was considered in a 
Public Inquiry held over September into October 2025. The appointed Inspector 
presented his draft report to the Secretary of State. The Council expects of the 
informed of the decision on or about 9th March 2026. 
 
25/0037/COUGEN 
Following the dismissal of the appeal against the refusal of the application for flexible 
letting 25/00569/COU and as previously reported, the Council requested the Planning 
Inspectorate to now appoint an Inspector to deal with the appeal against the 
enforcement notice on the same property. The Council was recently notified that an 
inspector was appointed, and they will be commencing the appeal process in March 
2026. An update will be provided as the appeal process gets underway. 
 
25/00261/COU 
Proposed change of use of the first floor and part ground floor from E-Class to twelve 
(12) Sui generis single occupancy HMO rooms and retention of E-class floorspace on 
ground floor at 1-4 Salisbury Street, Widnes. 
 
The following appeals have been determined: 
 
25/00272/COU 
Proposed change of use of ground floor of premises from extant (sui generis) licenced 
social club use with ancillary car park to storage and distribution class (B8) use with 
ancillary car park at Oddies Social Club, Hale Road, Widnes. 
APPEAL DISMISSED 

Page 25 Agenda Item 4


	Agenda
	1 MINUTES
	3a 25/00506/COU - Proposed change of use from a 2-bedroom dwellinghouse (Use Class C3) to a 4-bedroom House in Multiple Occupation (Use Class C4) with ensuites to each of the rooms and a shared kitchen and dining room. 31 Balfour Street, Runcorn, WA7 4PH
	2500506COU
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5


	4 MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS

